NO. 67558-3-I

# THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

OLIVER WEAVER,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

NANCY P. COLLINS Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, WA 98101 (206) 587-2711

STATE OF WASHINGTON

## **

#### A. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT.

Oliver Weaver's case was remanded for a new sentencing hearing before the trial court. At the new hearing, the court ruled that it violated double jeopardy to impose two convictions upon Weaver for the same incident. Despite this double jeopardy finding, the court listed both convictions on Weaver's judgment and sentence.

The court also imposed an exceptional sentence above the standard range. It imposed this sentence even though at the time of Weaver's trial, there was no statutory procedure for empaneling a jury to decide the aggravating factors on which the exceptional sentence was based.

In imposing the exceptional sentence, the court relied on an aggravating factor that was identical to an element of one of the charged offenses. Additionally, the court had not instructed the jury that its findings on the aggravating factors must be based on unanimous agreement that the additional facts apply to a specific charged crime. The court never instructed the jury that it did not need to be unanimous to answer "no" to the special verdict findings. Each error undermines the exceptional sentence.

Finally, the prosecution claimed that Weaver's offender score included two felony convictions from the early 1980s. It offered municipal court computer worksheets to allege Weaver had misdemeanor convictions that stopped the earlier felony convictions from "washing out" of the offender score calculations. The prosecution did not offer reliable evidence showing what convictions occurred, and did not meet its burden of proving Weaver's criminal history. Weaver's case must be remanded for further sentencing proceedings.

#### B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR.

- 1. The judgment and sentence erroneously lists two offenses of conviction even though the court ruled that multiple punishments for these two convictions would violate double jeopardy.
- 2. The court improperly imposed an exceptional sentence based on the jury's finding of an aggravating factor when the court lacked statutory authority to submit the aggravating factor to the jury.
- 3. The court lacked authority to impose an exceptional sentence based on the aggravating factor that the complainant was a child at the time of the incident, when an element of the crime

was that the complainant's was a child between 12 and 14 years old.

- 4. The court's imposition of an exceptional sentence violated Weaver's constitutional and statutory right to a unanimous jury verdict because the jury was not instructed that its special verdict needed to be based on a unanimous finding that the aggravating factor applied to specific charged crime.
- 5. The court denied Weaver due process of law by failing to instruct the jury that its special verdict findings did not need to be unanimous to answer "no."
- 6. The prosecution failed to meet its burden of proving Weaver's criminal history by reliable evidence as required by the due process clause.

#### C. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR.

1. It violates double jeopardy to enter convictions for two offenses that constitute a single crime. Here, the court found that it would violate double jeopardy to impose punishment for both offenses of conviction, but it listed both offenses in the judgment and sentence. Where two convictions violate double jeopardy, was the court required to strike one of the convictions from the judgment and sentence?

- 2. After Weaver's trial, the Legislature changed the statutory scheme for imposing an exceptional sentence. At Weaver's trial, the court created its own procedure and empaneled a jury to decide whether the State proved an aggravating factor. Did the court lack statutory authority to impose an exceptional sentence based on a jury finding when the then-existing statute did not permit such a procedure?
- 3. An exceptional sentence may not be based on a fact that is inherent in the underlying crime. An essential element of rape of a child in the second degree is that the complainant was between 12 and 14 years old. The court based its exceptional sentence in part on the jury's finding that the complainant "was a child" at the time of the incident. Was it impermissible to impose an exceptional sentence based on the complainant's youth when her age was an element of the crime?
- 4. Aggravating factors permitting an exceptional sentence must be proved to a unanimous jury beyond a reasonable doubt. The court asked the jury whether the State proved two aggravating factors for "either crime charged." The court did not instruct the jury that it needed to unanimously agree as to which crime the factor applied. Does the failure to obtain unanimous jury agreement on

the aggravating factor undermine the court's authority to impose an exceptional sentence?

- 5. Although the jury must unanimously agree to find an aggravating factor was proven beyond a reasonable doubt, the court may not require the jury to be unanimous to vote "no" and find that the aggravating factor does not apply. The court did not instruct the jury that it did not need to be unanimous to find the aggravating factor was not proven. Did the failure to properly instruct the jury on the requirements of reaching a verdict for the aggravating factor undermine the validity of the jury's findings?
- 6. The prosecution bears the burden of proving a person's criminal history prior to the court's imposition of a sentence. The prosecution asserted that Weaver's two felony convictions from the early 1980s counted in his offender score because he had not spent 10 years in the community without any criminal convictions. Did the State fail to present reliable evidence showing that Weaver had been convicted of misdemeanor offenses?

#### D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE.

In the course of Oliver Weaver's direct appeal, the Supreme Court remanded his case for further proceedings because the prosecution had failed to prove Weaver's criminal history. CP 32

(<u>State v. Weaver</u>, 171 Wn.2d 256, 258, 251 P.3d 876 (2011)). He had been convicted after a jury trial of one count of second degree rape of a child and one count of second degree rape, both of which rested on the same event. RP 23;<sup>1</sup> CP 5-6. The incident occurred in 2002. CP 5-6.

At the original sentencing hearing in 2005, the court treated the two offenses of conviction as the same crime and expressed its intent to merge them, but it listed both offenses on Weaver's judgment and sentence. 4/8/05RP 372-73 (transcript from original sentencing hearing); CP 19-20. The Supreme Court ruled that Weaver could raise the issue of double jeopardy at his resentencing hearing. CP 35; 171 Wn.2d at 260 n.2d.

Weaver's original sentence was imposed as an exceptional sentence under former RCW 9.94A.712. CP 20, 23. RCW 9.94A.712 required the court to impose an indeterminate sentence and allowed the court to set a minimum term that was greater than the standard sentencing range under the exceptional sentence procedures of RCW 9.94A.535.

The court submitted a special verdict to the jury asking: (1) in either charged crime, was the complainant, R.T., a child at the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> "RP" refers to the sentencing hearing held on July 7, 2011.

time of the incident and (2) in either charged crime, was R.T. impregnated as a result of the crime. CP 165. The court did not ask the jury to explain whether its decision applied to both charged crimes or to one specific one, and imposed an exceptional sentence based on the jury's findings. CP 20.

At Weaver's 2011 resentencing hearing, the prosecution asserted that Weaver had two prior burglary convictions from 1981 and 1984 that should be counted in his offender score. CP 47; RP 11. The prosecution claimed Weaver had been convicted of crimes in municipal court in the time intervening between 1985 and 2002. RP 10. It offered docket sheet printouts from four municipal court cases to prove the felony convictions had not washed out from the offender score calculation. RP 8, 10. Weaver objected to the lack of proof of his prior convictions. RP 13.

The court deemed the State's proof of Weaver's criminal history sufficient without specifying what convictions he had. RP 16. The court imposed an exceptional sentence above the standard range based on the jury's factual findings. CP 37; RP 26, 30. The court also agreed that it would violate double jeopardy to impose sentences on Weaver for both offenses, because they were based on a single incident and involved the same elements. RP 26.

Despite the court's double jeopardy ruling, it included both offenses as convictions on Weaver's judgment and sentence. CP 36-37.

#### E. ARGUMENT.

1. The judgment and sentence does not reflect the double jeopardy determination rendered by the sentencing court.

When two offenses merge because they are the same offense for purposes of double jeopardy, simply imposing a sentence on one offense is an inadequate remedy. State v. Turner, 169 Wn.2d 448, 464, 238 P.3d 461 (2010); State v. League, 167 Wn.2d 671, 672, 223 P.3d 493 (2009); State v. Womac, 160 Wn.2d 643, 658, 160 P.3d 40 (2007); State v. Knight, 162 Wn.2d 806, 812, 174 P.3d 1167 (2008) ("proper remedy for double jeopardy violations, including the one here, is vacating the offending convictions."); U.S. Const. amends. 5, 14; Wash. Const. art. I, § 9

As the Supreme Court explained in **Turner**,

To assure that double jeopardy proscriptions are carefully observed, a judgment and sentence must not include any reference to the vacated conviction-nor may an order appended thereto include such a reference; similarly, no reference should be made to the vacated conviction at sentencing.

169 Wn.2d at 464-65.

Here, the sentencing court correctly ruled that Weaver was convicted of two identical offenses based on a single act and it would violate double jeopardy to impose punishment for both offenses. RP 17. The court agreed that one conviction would be dismissed. RP 17.

The prosecutor told the court that under controlling law, it did not need to actually dismiss one offense but should not include it on the judgment and sentence. RP 17. Instead the prosecutor asked the court to sentence Weaver for a single offense. The court asked, "are you sure that that's the right approach?" RP 17. The prosecutor insisted it was his office's policy and "I believe there's case law to support it." RP 18.

Although the prosecutor's statement of the law was contrary to <u>Turner</u>, the court did not heed the prosecutor's advice to exclude mention of the other conviction on the judgment and sentence. The judgment and sentence listed both offenses. CP 36. It stated that Weaver was convicted of both offenses, but imposed sentence only on one of the two offenses. CP 36, 40.

In <u>Turner</u>, the Supreme Court clearly explained that a double jeopardy violation requires the court to vacate one of the offending

convictions. It does not permit the court to list the conviction as if it remained a valid conviction on the judgment and sentence.

The judgment and sentence improperly lists two convictions even though the court intended to vacate and dismiss one offense based on the double jeopardy violation. CP 36, 37. The judgment and sentence should be amended so that only a single punishment is imposed based on one conviction.

- 2. The court imposed an exceptional sentence that was not authorized by statute or jury verdict
  - a. The court lacked statutory authority to impose a sentence that exceeded the standard range.

The court's sentencing authority is derived solely from statute. State v. Pillatos, 159 Wn.2d 459, 469, 150 P.3d 1130 (2007). A court does not have inherent authority to impose an exceptional sentence. Pillatos, 159 Wn.2d at 469 ("no such inherent authority exists" for court to create own sentencing procedures). It would "usurp the power of the legislature" for the court to create a procedure to impose an exceptional sentence that is not authorized by statute. State v. Hughes, 154 Wn.2d 118, 152, 110 P.3d 192 (2005); overruled in part on other grounds,

Washington v. Recuenco, 548 U.S. 212, 126 S.Ct. 2546, 165 L.Ed.2d 466 (2006).

Washington's scheme for imposing exceptional sentences, set forth in former RCW 9.94A.535 (2002), was invalidated by Blakely v. Washington, 542 U.S. 296, 308, 124 S.Ct. 2531, 159 L.Ed.2d 403 (2004). In response, the Legislature revised the procedure by which a court may impose an exceptional sentence. This revision occurred after Weaver's trial occurred.

Effective April 15, 2005, the court was required to present aggravating factors to a jury. <u>Pillatos</u>, 159 Wn.2d at 465 (citing <u>Laws</u> of 2005, ch. 68). "Facts supporting aggravated sentences, other than the fact of a prior conviction, shall be determined pursuant to the provisions of RCW 9.94A.537." RCW 9.94A.535.

Weaver was sentenced under the indeterminate sentencing scheme of former RCW 9.94A.712 (2002),<sup>2</sup> which permitted a court to impose a minimum term greater than the standard range. State v. Clark, 156 Wn.2d 880, 891, 134 P.3d 188 (2006). Because Weaver's sentence rested on an exceptional minimum term without extending the maximum permissible sentence, this sentence does not violate the Sixth Amendment if it was based on judicial fact-

finding. <u>Id</u>. But "there are statutory constraints" that prohibit a judge from imposing a minimum sentence above the standard range.

<u>State v. Hopkins</u>, 137 Wn.App. 441, 459 n.4, 154 P.3d 250 (2007).

At the time the incident occurred underlying Weaver's conviction, former RCW 9.94A.712(3) (2002) authorized a court to impose a statutory minimum sentence outside of the standard range "pursuant to RCW 9.94A.535, if the offender is otherwise eligible for such a sentence." The State sought an exceptional minimum sentence against Weaver under RCW 9.94A.535. CP 8. At the time of the original sentencing, the State acknowledged that Blakely had cast doubt on the validity of Washington's exceptional sentence scheme, but claimed the court had authority to impose an exceptional sentence anyway. CP 10-11. At Weaver's resentencing, the prosecution claimed that the court did not err in empaneling a jury and creating its own procedures for imposing an exceptional sentence. CP 49 n.2.

Weaver's trial occurred in February 2005, at a time when there was no statutory authority to seek and rely on a jury verdict authorizing a sentence above the standard range. A similar scenario occurred in <u>State v. Doney</u>, 165 Wn.2d 400, 198 P.3d 483

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Recodified as RCW 9.94A.507. <u>See Laws</u> 2008, ch. 231, § 56 (effective

(2008). In <u>Doney</u>, the defendant pled guilty in March 2005, and the court empaneled a jury to decide aggravating factors and imposed an exceptional sentence. Even though the later-enacted exceptional sentencing scheme would allow for a jury trial on the aggravating factors, the Supreme Court held that the sentence must be vacated because the court lacked authority to retain a jury at the time the plea and sentencing proceedings occurred.

At Weaver's February 2005 trial, the court submitted an aggravating factor to the jury as authority for imposing a minimum sentence that would be greater than the standard range. CP 92; CP 165. The court crafted its own procedure to seek such a verdict at the State's request. CP 92. The prosecution "agreed" that a jury finding was necessary for the court to impose an exceptional minimum sentence. Id. No authorizing statute allowed the court to submit aggravating factors to a jury at the time of Weaver's sentence.

The jury returned its verdict on February 23, 2005, finding Weaver guilty of the charged offenses and answering "yes" to the special verdict form authorizing additional punishment. The court imposed an exceptional minimum sentence on April 18, 2005, and

Aug. 1, 2009).

reimposed the same exceptional minimum sentence on July 8, 2011. CP 20, 23, 40; RP 30, 38.

The court relied on the jury's factual findings to impose this sentence. RP 24. The prosecution acknowledged that the law had changed, but claimed that the courts have now decided that the procedure employed by the court was correct. CP 49-50 n.2.

Contrary to the prosecutor's depiction of the case law, courts have agreed that a trial court lacks "inherent authority" to create its own sentencing procedures. Pillatos, 159 Wn.2d at 469. Courts have also agreed that under RCW 9.94A.537, the remedy for a sentence that was entered without authority of law is to conduct a new sentencing proceeding. See Doney, 165 Wn.2d at 403-04. Here, the court based its sentence upon the jury's findings but it lacked statutory authority to empanel a jury on these aggravating factors. RP 26. Thus, the court's sentence was not authorized by law and cannot stand.

b. The aggravating factor of the age of the complainant could not be a valid basis for an exceptional sentence under count one, because age was an essential element of the offense.

An exceptional sentence may not be imposed based on "the very facts which constituted the elements of the offense proven at

trial." State v. Ferguson, 142 Wn.2d 631, 648, 15 P.3d 1271 (2001). Facts that fall within the definition of an element of the crime cannot support a sentence above the standard range. State v. Stubbs, 170 Wn.2d 117, 128, 240 P.3d 143 (2010).

In count one, Weaver was charged with second degree rape of a child, for which an essential element was "that R.T. was at least twelve years old but was less than fourteen years old at the time" of the incident. CP 177 (Instruction 7). One of the aggravating factors relied on by the judge was that R.T. was "a child at the time of the commission of the crime in either count one or count two." CP 165 (special verdict form).

Because the complainant's age was an element of this offense, it cannot also serve as a basis for an exceptional sentence. Stubbs, 170 Wn.2d at 126-28; Ferguson, 142 Wn.2d at 648. Furthermore, as a child between 12 and 14 years old, it cannot be said that R.T.'s age was so significantly different than the typical case of second degree rape of a child that an exceptional sentence could be warranted. See Stubbs, 170 Wn.2d at 126 (severity of injuries cannot be basis for exceptional sentence in assault case unless far exceed what statute contemplates). This

aggravating factor cannot justify an exceptional sentence for count one. CP 5.

c. The jury's verdict does not rest on a unanimous finding that the aggravating factor applies to the count on which Weaver was sentenced.

The State bears the burden of proving each factual element of an offense beyond a reasonable doubt to a unanimous jury, including aggravating factors that authorize additional punishment.

State v. Goldberg, 149 Wn.2d 888, 72 P.3d 1083 (2003) ("As for aggravating factors, jurors *must be unanimous* to find that the State has proved the existence of the aggravating factor beyond a reasonable doubt." (emphasis in original)). The inviolate right to trial by jury requires a jury to reach a unanimous verdict based on accurate instructions. See State v. Williams-Walker, 167 Wn.2d 889, 225 P.2d 913, 918 (2010); U.S. Const. amends. 6, 14; Wash. Const. art. I, §§ 21, 22.

When separate charges may rest on the same act, the jury must be instructed to consider each charge separately. State v. Borsheim, 140 Wn.App. 357, 365, 165 P.3d 417 (2007). The jury's verdict must rest on unanimous agreement of the acts necessary for each conviction. State v. Vander Houwen, 163 Wn.2d 25, 37, 177 P.3d 93 (2008) ("In the absence of a unanimity jury instruction,

each juror could have convicted Vander Houwen based on different criminal acts"); see also State v. Bobenhouse, 166 Wn.2d 881, 893, 214 P.3d 907 (2009) ("In 'multiple acts' cases, the jury must unanimously agree as to which incident constituted the crime charged.").

Here, Weaver was charged with two offenses but the jury received a special verdict form that applied to "either count one or count two." CP 183 (Instruction 13). Instruction 13 stated:

You will also be furnished with a special verdict form. If you find the defendant not guilty of both counts one and two, do not use the special verdict form. If you find the defendant guilty of either count one or count two, you will then use the special verdict form and fill in the blanks with the answer "yes" or "no" according to the decisions you reach. In order to answer the special verdict form "yes," you must unanimously be satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt that "yes" is the correct answer. If you have a reasonable doubt as to the question, you must answer "no".

(emphasis added).

The special verdict form asked the jury to decide two questions, and repeated the direction from Instruction 13 that the

answers could apply to "either count one or count two." CP 165 (emphasis added).<sup>3</sup>

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