NO. 67558-3-I

# COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent and Cross-Appellant,

٧.

OLIVER WEAVER,

Appellant and Cross-Respondent.

COURT OF APPEALS DIV STATE OF WASHINGTON 2012 APR 20 PM 2: 05

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KING COUNTY

THE HONORABLE SHARON ARMSTRONG

#### BRIEF OF RESPONDENT AND CROSS-APPELLANT

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

BRIAN M. McDONALD Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent And Cross-Appellant

> King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 3rd Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 296-9650

#

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

# F. ARGUMENT ON APPEAL

1. IF WEAVER'S CONVICTIONS VIOLATE DOUBLE JEOPARDY, THE TRIAL COURT SHOULD VACATE ONE CONVICTION.

Weaver complains that the trial court included his second-degree rape and second-degree rape of a child convictions in the judgment and sentence, although the court had held that the multiple convictions violated double jeopardy. The State has appealed that ruling, and if this Court reverses the trial court's double jeopardy decision, this issue is moot. Otherwise, the State agrees that the trial court should vacate the second-degree rape of a child conviction and amend the judgment and sentence to avoid any reference to that conviction. State v. Turner, 169 Wn.2d 448, 160 P.3d 40 (2007).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The State has already agreed that Weaver's convictions constitute the same criminal conduct, and, therefore, Weaver's offender score and sentence on the second-degree rape conviction will remain unaffected.

to the trial court with instructions to impose sentence on Weaver's second-degree rape of a child conviction.<sup>3</sup>

# F. ARGUMENT ON APPEAL

1. IF WEAVER'S CONVICTIONS VIOLATE DOUBLE JEOPARDY, THE TRIAL COURT SHOULD VACATE ONE CONVICTION.

Weaver complains that the trial court included his second-degree rape and second-degree rape of a child convictions in the judgment and sentence, although the court had held that the multiple convictions violated double jeopardy. The State has appealed that ruling, and if this Court reverses the trial court's double jeopardy decision, this issue is moot. Otherwise, the State agrees that the trial court should vacate the second-degree rape of a child conviction and amend the judgment and sentence to avoid any reference to that conviction. State v. Turner, 169 Wn.2d 448, 160 P.3d 40 (2007).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The State has already agreed that Weaver's convictions constitute the same criminal conduct, and, therefore, Weaver's offender score and sentence on the second-degree rape conviction will remain unaffected.

# 2. WEAVER'S CHALLENGES TO THE EXCEPTIONAL SENTENCE AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCE ARE TOO LATE AND WITHOUT MERIT.

In this appeal of his resentencing hearing, Weaver offers several new arguments challenging the aggravating circumstance supporting his exceptional sentence. He argues that (1) the trial court lacked statutory authority to submit the aggravating circumstance to the jury at his 2005 trial, (2) the aggravating circumstance does not apply to the crime of second-degree rape of a child, (3) the jury instructions did not ensure that the jury unanimously found the aggravating circumstance for a particular count, and (4) the jury instruction failed to advise the jury that they did not need to be unanimous to answer "no" to the special verdict. Weaver made only one of these arguments in his first appeal, the claim that the trial court lacked authority to submit the aggravating circumstance, and he then abandoned it. Because the propriety of the exceptional sentence aggravating circumstance was not at issue at the resentencing hearing, this Court should hold that Weaver may not raise these issues now. Should this Court choose to address these challenges, it should reject them as meritless for the reasons set forth below.

a. Weaver May Not Challenge The Aggravating Circumstance In His Second Appeal.

This is Weaver's second appeal, and it is an appeal of his 2011 resentencing hearing. Weaver's challenges to the aggravating circumstance were not pursued in his first appeal, and the case was remanded for the resentencing hearing in order to address issues about Weaver's criminal history. Weaver cannot assert new claims of trial error that were not properly before the trial court at the resentencing hearing. This Court should dismiss Weaver's claims of error.

State v. Barberio, 121 Wn.2d 48, 846 P.2d 519 (1993) controls Weaver's claim. In Barberio, the trial court imposed exceptional sentences on Barberio's two convictions. In his first appeal, Barberio succeeded in having one conviction reversed; however, he did not challenge the exceptional sentences. Id. at 49. After the trial court again imposed an exceptional sentence on the remaining count, Barberio challenged the exceptional sentence in his second appeal. Id. at 49-50.

The Washington Supreme Court upheld this Court's dismissal of the appeal. The court first cited RAP 2.5(c)(1), which provides: "If a trial court decision is otherwise properly before the

appellate court, the appellate court may at the instance of a party review and determine the propriety of a decision of the trial court even though a similar decision was not disputed in an earlier review of the same case." Id. at 50. However, the court limited this rule as follows:

This rule does not revive automatically every issue or decision which was not raised in an earlier appeal. Only if the trial court, on remand, exercised its independent judgment, reviewed and ruled again on such issue does it become an appealable question.

<u>Id.</u> The court held that Barberio could not challenge the exceptional sentence in his second appeal because at the resentencing hearing the trial court did not independently reconsider the grounds for the exceptional sentence. <u>Id.</u> at 51-52.

The appellate courts have repeatedly reaffirmed the rule in <u>Barberio</u>. Most recently, the Supreme Court has held that even an intervening change in the law does not create an exception to this rule. State v. Kilgore, 167 Wn.2d 28, 35-43, 216 P.3d 393 (2009).

The Supreme Court has further recognized that a resentencing hearing that is ordered to correct an offender score does not reopen challenges to the basis for an exceptional sentence. In <a href="State v. Rowland">State v. Rowland</a>, \_\_ Wn.2d \_\_, 272 P.3d 242 (2012), the defendant was convicted of first-degree murder in 1991, and

the trial court found the deliberate cruelty aggravating circumstance and imposed an exceptional sentence. More than 15 years later, a resentencing hearing was required due to an error in the defendant's offender score.

At the new sentencing hearing, the defendant attempted to challenge his exceptional sentence under Blakely v. Washington, 542 U.S. 296, 124 S. Ct. 2531, 159 L. Ed. 2d 403 (2004), because the judge, not a jury, had found the aggravating circumstance.

Rowland, 272 P.3d at 243. The trial court rejected the argument, did not reconsider the factual findings supporting the exceptional sentence, and imposed the same exceptional sentence. Id. at 244. The Supreme Court held that the trial court properly rejected the Blakely challenge because the resentencing hearing did not reopen a challenge to the exceptional sentence:

The trial court on remand did not redecide the justification for the exceptional sentence, and the change to Rowland's standard range left the justification intact. In essence, no new exceptional sentence was imposed since only the standard range was corrected.

Rowland, 272 P.3d at 244.

Similarly, in this appeal of his 2011 resentencing hearing,
Weaver cannot challenge the procedures employed and the jury

instructions given in his 2005 trial. Weaver did not pursue these issues in his original appeal, and the case was remanded for resentencing due to an offender score issue. The issues about Weaver's criminal history did not reopen possible challenges to the exceptional sentence aggravating circumstance. In this case, as in Rowland, the trial court did not reconsider the basis for the aggravating circumstance and reimposed the same exceptional sentence. Because the propriety of the trial procedures and jury instructions were not properly before the trial court at the resentencing hearing, this Court should dismiss Weaver's claims of error.

Nevertheless, should this Court choose to address the various challenges Weaver now makes to his exceptional sentence, it should reject them as meritless. Each claim is discussed below.

 The Trial Court Could Impose The Exceptional Sentence Regardless Of The Jury Finding.

Weaver argues that he is entitled to reversal of his exceptional sentence because the trial court lacked statutory authority to submit the aggravating circumstance to the jury. He notes that the legislature did not amend the Sentencing Reform Act

to allow for a jury finding of an aggravating circumstance until after his trial. He argues that the jury finding in his case is not valid because the Washington Supreme Court held that, prior to the effective date of these amendments, the trial court lacked authority to submit aggravating circumstance to the jury. State v. Doney, 165 Wn.2d 400, 198 P.3d 483 (2008).

Weaver made this claim in his first appeal and then abandoned it, admitting that the jury finding was not required.

Appellant's Reply Brief dated April 2, 2007 in State v. Weaver,

No. 57691-7-I. This concession was proper; Weaver's challenge to his exceptional sentence fails because a jury finding of the pregnancy aggravating circumstance was not required in order to justify imposition of the exceptional sentence.

The flaw in Weaver's argument is due to the fact that he was subject to indeterminate sentencing under RCW 9.94A.507. That statute requires the sentencing court to impose a maximum term consisting of the statutory maximum and an exceptional sentence or standard range minimum term. RCW 9.94A.507(3). The trial in this case occurred after the United States Supreme Court's decision in Blakely, and the State, in the exercise of caution, requested a jury finding on the aggravating circumstance. RP(trial)

328-31. However, this jury finding was not legally required. After Weaver's trial, the Washington Supreme Court held that a defendant does not have a constitutional right to a jury finding for an aggravating circumstance supporting a minimum term exceptional sentence under RCW 9.94A.507. State v. Clarke, 156 Wn.2d 880, 886-92, 134 P.3d 188 (2006).

Accordingly, the trial court was entitled to rely upon the fact that Weaver impregnated R.T. without any jury finding. <sup>4</sup> In this case, there is no question that the judge found that Weaver caused her to become pregnant. At the first sentencing hearing, the judge stated:

The sentence I'm imposing is an exceptional sentence and it is based upon the severity of the crime.

Mr. Weaver saw a young girl walking down the street, invited her in to work for him, for his family and at his business, in a process we would all recognize as grooming. Ultimately he forcibly raped her with a handgun, what she believed to be a handgun, pointed at her head. She became pregnant and at a very young age had to terminate her pregnancy. And the effects on her have been profound and truly terrible.

RP(trial) 381 (emphasis added). The trial court found that R.T.'s pregnancy was a substantial and compelling reason to impose an

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The fact that R.T. was pregnant was never in dispute. The defense was identity: that Weaver was not responsible for the pregnancy. Supp. CP \_\_\_\_ (Sub No. 157); RP(trial) 351-63.

exceptional sentence and imposed a minimum term exceptional sentence double the top end of the standard range. CP 16, 37-40. In light of these facts and the trial court's finding, Weaver's challenge lacks merit.

 The Aggravating Circumstance Applies To Second-Degree Rape Of A Child.

Weaver also argues that the pregnancy aggravating circumstance does not apply to the crime of second-degree rape of a child, claiming that the facts of the aggravator are also elements of the crime. This claim is incorrect; the pregnancy aggravating circumstance requires more than just the elements of second-degree rape of a child. Moreover, it is obvious that the legislature intended that this aggravating circumstance apply to child rapes, and Weaver's interpretation runs clearly contrary to legislative intent.

The relevant aggravating circumstance is that "[t]he offense resulted in the pregnancy of a child victim of rape." RCW 9.94A.535(3)(i); former RCW 9.94A.535(2)(k). Contrary to Weaver's claim, this aggravating circumstance requires more than proof that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Should this Court affirm the trial court's dismissal of Weaver's second-degree rape of a child conviction, this issue would be moot.

the victim was a child. It requires proof that as a result of the rape, the victim became pregnant. The premise of Weaver's claim is simply inaccurate.

The authorities cited by Weaver are inapposite. In State v. Stubbs, 170 Wn.2d 117, 124-31, 240 P.3d 143 (2010), the Supreme Court held that particularly severe injuries could not justify an exceptional sentence on a first-degree assault conviction because an element of the crime was proof of great bodily harm, and therefore, severe injuries were already contemplated by the legislature in setting the standard range. See also State v. Ferguson, 142 Wn. 2d 631, 648, 15 P.3d 1271 (2001) (holding that exposing another person to HIV with intent to do bodily harm leaves no room for an additional finding of deliberate cruelty as justification for an exceptional sentence.).

Here, the legislature did not contemplate, when setting the standard range for the offense of child rape, that the victim would necessarily become pregnant. Rather, it is obvious that the legislature enacted this aggravating circumstance to allow for additional punishment when the child victim also became pregnant. This aggravator applies to child rapes.

d. The Special Verdict Instruction Properly Stated The Requirement For Jury Unanimity.

Weaver makes two challenges to the special verdict jury instruction relating to unanimity: (1) he claims that the special verdict jury form did not ensure that the jury unanimously found that the aggravating circumstance applied to a particular count, and (2) citing <a href="State v. Bashaw">State v. Bashaw</a>, 169 Wn.2d 133, 234 P.3d 195 (2010), he argues that the special verdict jury instruction failed to advise the jury that they did not need to be unanimous to answer "no" to the special verdict.

As discussed above, the jury finding of the aggravating circumstance was not required in order to justify Weaver's exceptional sentence, and, therefore, any possible error in the jury instructions with respect to the aggravating circumstance is harmless.

In addition, under RAP 2.5(a)(3), neither claim is preserved on appeal because Weaver did not raise them when discussing the jury instructions. RP(trial) 328. In his briefing, Weaver does not attempt to explain why he can raise these issues for the first time

on appeal.<sup>6</sup> As discussed below in addressing the merits of the claims, Weaver cannot show that either asserted error had practical and identifiable consequences in the trial of the case. State v. Kirkman, 159 Wn.2d 918, 935, 155 P.3d 125 (2007). This Court should hold that they are not preserved.

Assuming Weaver may raise the issues, his first complaint is that the special verdict form did not ensure that the jury unanimously found the aggravating circumstance with respect to a particular count. He notes that the verdict form asked "Did the defendant impregnate R.T. as a result of the commission of the crime in either count one *or* count two." CP 165 (emphasis added).

However, as the trial court observed when Weaver's counsel raised this issue at the resentencing hearing, the two convictions were based upon the same act of intercourse. It is not possible that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> With respect to the <u>Bashaw</u> issue, there is a split of authority in the Court of Appeals as to whether a <u>Bashaw</u> claim presents a constitutional issue that can be raised for the first time on appeal. Divisions II and III have held that a defendant may not assert a <u>Bashaw</u> claim for the first time on appeal. <u>State v. Bertrand</u>, 165 Wn. App. 393, 267 P.3d 511 (2011); <u>State v. Nunez</u>, 160 Wn. App. 150, 157-63, 248 P.3d 103, <u>rev. granted</u>, 172 Wn.2d 1004 (2011). Judges in Division I are split on the issue. <u>State v. Morgan</u>, 163 Wn. App. 341, 350, 261 P.3d 167 (2011); <u>State v. Ryan</u>, 160 Wn. App. 944, 252 P.3d 895, <u>rev. granted</u>, 172 Wn.2d 1004 (2011). The Washington Supreme Court has accepted review of <u>Nunez</u> and <u>Ryan</u>, consolidated the two cases, and will likely resolve this split of authority. In the meantime, this Court should hold that Weaver cannot raise this issue for the first time on appeal.

a juror might have believed that R.T. became pregnant as the result of the second-degree rape of a child but did not become pregnant during the second-degree forcible rape. Given the facts of this case, the jury must have unanimously found the aggravating circumstance on each count.

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